IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2008-TS-01783

RHONDA YEAGER

Appellant

v.

DAVID KITTRELL

Appellee

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

APPELLANT RESPECTFULLY REQUESTS ORAL ARGUMENT

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ERIC TIEBAUER, 4363 HIGHWAY 145 NORTH WAYNESBORO, MS 39367 601-735-5222 - PHONE 601-735-5008 - FAX

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Whether the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act was applied correctly, if applied at all, to the Appellant and her parental rights, in a case where original jurisdiction in Mississippi was transferred to Texas despite Appellant's continued domicile in Mississippi. This transfer as applied immediately led to Appellant being cited for Contempt in Texas with a Bench Warrant issued.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Procedural History**

This case is unique in that the procedural history and the legality of those procedures imposed upon Appellant, encompass nearly the entire issue before this Court. Unfortunately, as with many child custody cases that have been brought before this Court and noted in many of this Honorable Court's opinions, the docket sheet is a mess and serves better in causing confusion rather than shed light on the proceedings. As with the majority of cases pertaining to child custody hearings in which the undersigned attorney has reviewed, inexplicable one or two year lapses appear in the record and it is left to guess what the Court based its decision upon.

Fortunately, Appellant analyzes the issue as being rather simple and a complete examination of the record is not likely to be necessary.

Appellant filed for divorce in Greene County Mississippi, sometime in early 2003. By agreement, the case was moved to Wayne County, Mississippi, on September 12, 2003, as that was determined to be the most convenient venue, there was never any question that the State of Mississippi had proper jurisdiction. The next two and a half years were filled with the agonizing back and forth between competing custody interests, none of which is at issue in this appeal and none would be considered extraordinary to the good chancery judges of this fine State that have to deal with these matters on a daily basis.

On December 19th 2005, the Chancery Court of Wayne County, Mississippi, entered it's (first) Final Order in regard to child custody as it relates to this case. Appellant took the prerequisite steps in trying to get the order reconsidered in light of new evidence. Appellant then threatened to Appeal. The appeal never ripened largely due to economic concerns, but Appellant had the time to have the Appeal re-opened in October 6, 2006, and on October 24, 2006, Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. Meanwhile, Appellant again had to file a *Motion to Reconsider Order reopening Time for Appeal*, and on January 19, 2007, this Court granted another opening for time to appeal.

That ends the procedure which is not in dispute and not part of this particular appeal, because something far more ominous arose shortly after the Supreme Court granted the time for appeal again in January of 2007.

On February 5, 2007 (R.E. 5), Appellee filed a *Motion for Transfer of Jurisdiction*, to Texas, while the appeal was pending, while Appellant/Mother still resided in Mississippi and while the mother/ Appellant and children still had significant contacts with the State of Mississippi. On May 11, 2007 Appellant filed a *Motion for Contempt* based upon allegations of wrongdoing by Appellee, not in accord with the Final Decree of the Wayne County Chancery Court. The Chancery Court of Wayne County refused to hear the Motion for Contempt and only heard arguments of the Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction, as evidenced by the Wayne County Chancery Court's Order, which only addressed the Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction, and on August 6, 2007, inexplicably, the Wayne County Chancery Court,

released jurisdiction of the case under Mississippi Code Annotated sec. 93-27-207, stating bizarrely that "This Court has conferred with the Court of Original jurisdiction in the State of Texas, and has agreed that Texas is a more convenient forum as determined within the framework of the Mississippi Code Annotated." (R.E. 11). This Order Releasing Jurisdiction was entered into on March 5, 2007. Appellant's concerns in the case immediately switched from substantive complaints to purely procedural complaints as she was effectively "locked out" of the proceedings due to economic conditions. Had the jurisdiction not been transferred it would have cost Appellant infinitely less to address the critical issues. As will be shown what followed next had a profound impact upon her relationship with her children. Appellant was denied fairness and proper legal application. What happened next is a strong example of the reason why the UCCJA, the PKPA, and the UCCJEA were enacted.

The docket sheet at Wayne County cryptically describes what happened within a month of transfer of jurisdiction of this case to Texas. Letter from Gary Gueck with copy of Order on Petition to Modify Suit, Affecting the Child Parent Relationship. (R.E. 12). In this particular Appeal, Appellant is taking great pains to leave aside the substantive issues impacting her parental rights and keep focus on the procedural and jurisdictional questions.

It is critical for this Court to know, that on March 7th, 2008 in Texas, merely 2 days following the *Motion For Transfer of Jurisdiction* Appellant received notice that she was being sued in the District Court of Navarro County, Texas. Appellant was given 20 days to respond or face a *Default Judgment*. The notice of suit set out specifically that the purpose

of the suit was to answer Appellees' Petition to Establish Jurisdiction and to Modify Orders

Affecting the Parent Child Relationship. The suit utilized dated Exhibits determined by the

Wayne County Chancery Court to strengthen his case, without getting into the substantive issues, it is a violation of Appellant's rights to not have the opportunity to file an Answer that addresses the change of circumstances that the Court of original jurisdiction determined.

Appellant was given 20 days to respond. The undersigned attorney is not licensed to practice in Texas and hiring a Texas attorney was simply not an option. The merits of the suit in Navarro County, Texas were heard on September 7, 2007. Appellant was not able to attend. Again, Appellant is focused merely upon jurisdiction and not the substantive allegations in any of the procedural aspects of the case.

Appellant, though highly interested, was not able to attend for a host of reasons, some of which were economic. Regardless, when Appellant Failed to Appear at a hearing in Texas, a Writ of Capias with Pick Up Order was issued by the Navarro County, Texas District Court. (R.E. 19)This Warrant was sent to the Sheriff of Wayne County in order to have Appellant arrested. Thankfully, the undersigned attorney immediately moved that the Wayne County Chancery Court quash the Warrant and sanity and fairness prevailed, when the Wayne County Chancery Court quashed the Warrant because it was not entitled to "full faith and credit in Mississippi." As far as the undersigned attorney knows, the Writ of Capias with Pick Up Order is still in force in Texas, it prevents Appellant from being arrested when her children are present but Appellant still has to travel to Texas to pick up her children. It

is situations such as this that the UCCJEA was enacted.

Jurisdiction to hear child custody modifications can be heard in more than one jurisdiction, but that hardly allows one participant to immediately take advantage of his sole ability to appear in one jurisdiction. Appellant is currently only appealing the transfer of jurisdiction which severely impacted her ability to respond to the allegations of Appellee, as seen by the actions of Appellee above, it is obvious to any neutral observer that Appellee immediately took advantage of the ability to have critical custody hearings heard in Texas, and Appellants inability to respond. Appellant only requests that this Court follow the laws addressing these matters which would result in her ability to have access to the Court of original and continuing jurisdiction to answer allegations of Appellee.

The entirety of this appeal is focused upon the illegality of the transfer of jurisdiction from its proper place in Wayne County, Mississippi, to Navarro County in Texas. The transfer was in direct contradiction to the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act, adopted by this State in 2004, (see MS Code sec.97-23-201 et seq), which was enacted to specifically prevent situations such as this, where forum shopping leads to absurd and contradictory results and leaving it to the highest Court of this State to settle the matter. Appellant has chosen to frame the question in one simple issue. To repeat one more time, the issue is whether the original *Order Releasing Jurisdiction* is lawful under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (MS Code Sec 93-27-201 et seq), the preceding Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act and the Parental Kidnapping

Prevention Act. An overlapping issue is whether was it proper to transfer jurisdiction while the Wayne County, Mississippi, Chancery Court was well aware that an appeal was cer

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court of Wayne County committed clear legal error in it's transfer of this case under the UCCJEA and Miss. Code § 93-23-201, et seq. Specifically violating the statute in not putting proper prioritization to the court of original jurisdiction and further compounding the error by not listing substantive reasons for doing so. All of which are contradictory to the letter and spirit of the UCCJEA and led to tragic results for the Appellant.

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Court does not need to be reminded or told that no legal proceedings are as wrought with emotion and ugly cross charges as parents' fight for the well being of their children. Nothing pulls on the heart strings like the custody of a child and these cases are difficult and taxing for all parties involved, Courts being no exception. This case is no different in that sense.

This case involves a custody dispute regarding the children of Appellant and Appellee, they are R.C.K who was born on January 10, 1995, and T.R.K. who was born on May 3, 1996. It has always been a hard struggle, but nothing like lately, as demonstrated above. Critical issues impacting custody have changed, yet Appellant is effectively shut out to address those matters.

However, as Appellant will argue below, there are few facts actually relevant to the legal question presented. Respondent submitted to the jurisdiction of Mississippi because

he was domiciled here at the time of filing the *Petition for Decree*. Respondent has primary custody of the two children, with Appellant having reasonable visitation rights. At some point Respondent moved to Navarro County Texas and took the children with him.

Appellant continues to reside in Wayne County, Mississippi, is actively involved in Wayne County, Mississippi, Appellant maintains significant ties to Wayne County, Mississippi, and her children are now of an age in which their desires should be considered in what is in their best interests, both have signed Affidavits stating their desire to live in Wayne County, Mississippi, with their mother. Simply speaking, both in a jurisdictional and venue sense, Appellant's only lawful place to have her parental custody concerns heard remains in Wayne County, Mississippi.

### Legal Analysis

The standard of review in jurisdiction cases regarding child custody is well established. The decision on whether to accept, decline or transfer jurisdiction under the UCCJA and the 2004 adoption of the UCCJEA give full faith and credit to a sister state's order as one of law and of course, when presented with issues of law, [The Mississippi Appellate Courts] employ a de novo standard of review; and, when confronted with the issue of whether a sister state's judgment should be given full faith and credit by our Courts, we are indeed considering an issue of law. J.E.W.I-Com Management, Inc. v. Waveland Resort Inns, Inc., 782 So.2d 149, 151 (Miss.2001) (citing Ellis v. Anderson Tully Co., 727 So.2d 716, 718 (Miss.1998)). As such, impersonam jurisdiction may not be waived and may be asserted at any stage of the proceeding or even collaterally. Id." Hunt v. Hunt, 629 So.2d 548, 551 (Miss.1992). Therefore, to the extent that

this case calls for legal analysis given the bereft docket sheet in Wayne County, Mississippi, as to what actually took place during these child custody proceedings, of primary importance is establishing an initial Court with proper ongoing jurisdiction

The accompanying committee notes set out specifically the importance of establishing clear intent to keep jurisdiction, even for modifications with the court of original jurisdiction so long as the committee notes set forth:

2. Continuing jurisdiction is lost when the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent no longer reside in the original decree State. The exact language of subparagraph (a)(2) was the subject of considerable debate.

A

Ultimately the Conference settled on the phrase that "a court of this State or a court of another State determines that the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent do not presently reside in this State" to determine when the exclusive, continuing jurisdiction of a State ended. The phrase is meant to be identical in meaning to the language of the PKPA which provides that full faith and credit is to be given to the court of a sister State.

The actual statute addressing ongoing jurisdiction lists the most important consideration to be considered when a *Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction* is filed by the custodial parent. This statute is completely on point with respect to lawful consideration of the ongoing jurisdiction to modify decrees once a determination has been made that initial jurisdiction lies in this state: elsewhere, the exclusive, continuing jurisdiction ceases only;

(a) A court of this state determines that neither the child, nor the child and one parent, nor the child and a person acting as a parent have a significant connection with this state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child's care, protection, training, and personal relationships; or

- (b) A court of this state or a court of another state determines that the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent currently do not reside in this state.
- (2) A court of this state which has made a child custody determination and does not have exclusive, continuing jurisdiction under this section may modify that determination only if it has jurisdiction to make an initial determination under Section 93-27-201.

**Sources:** Laws, 2004, ch. 519, § 14, eff from and after July 1, 2004.

The issue in our sister state Oklahoma in G.S. v. Ewing, 786 P.2d 65 (OK 1990), was precisely the same as the one presented to this Honorable Court and followed the rules that were actually strengthened with respect to retention of original jurisdiction under the UCCJA and subsequent UCCJEA, the Oklahoma Supreme Court characterized the issue as:

The two issues presented are: 1) whether an Oklahoma court, having rendered the original divorce decree, has jurisdiction to modify custody if the non-custodial parent resides in Oklahoma, but Oklahoma is not the child's "home state" within the meaning of 10 O.S. 1981 § 1604;1 and 2) if the trial court was correct in hearing the cause, should it have refused to exercise jurisdiction because Oklahoma is an inconvenient forum.

There simply cannot be a case more on point with the facts in this case, a custodial parent trying to establish new jurisdiction with a foreign court when the non-custodial parent still presently resides within the jurisdiction of the State issuing the original decree and the children retaining significant contacts with that State.

The facts in *G.S. v. Ewing* were set forth as such; ¶3 The petitioner/mother and the respondent/father were married on January 30, 1982. The couple had two children, L.L.B., born on September 14, 1982, and A.H.B., born on August 20, 1985. The couple was divorced

in McClain County on September 22, 1986. The mother and children resided in Oklahoma until shortly before the decree. Under the terms of the decree, custody was placed with the mother, with the father receiving reasonable visitation rights. When the decree was entered, the mother and two children were living in Jasper County, Missouri. Since the divorce, the children have lived with their mother in Missouri.

¶4 On August 5, 1989, the children's fraternal grandmother went to the children's home in Missouri and brought the children to Oklahoma for their regular summer visitation. The mother entered Baxter Memorial Hospital, Baxter Springs, Kansas, on August 12, 1989, for "treatment for Co-Dependency." She was dismissed from the hospital on September 13, 1989. The facts are disputed concerning whether the treatment and its duration, were discussed by the parties before the children came to Oklahoma. The mother asserts that she and the children's father agreed that the children's visitation would be extended to allow her to complete a thirty-day treatment program. The father alleges that he was unaware that the mother had entered treatment, or that the children would need to extend their stay until the mother called him on August 17, 1989. The type of treatment for which the mother voluntarily committed herself is in dispute.

¶5 The father enrolled L.L.B., in the Purcell public schools on August 24, 1989. However, when the father tried to enroll A.H.B. in a pre-school program, he discovered that the child had not been given his regular immunizations perhaps because of a previous allergic reaction. On September 18, 1989, the father filed a motion to modify the custody provisions of the divorce decree. He was also granted temporary custody of the two children. The same day, the mother

arrived in Purcell to pick up the children, but the father refused to surrender their custody. On October 2, 1989, the mother filed a writ of habeas corpus and a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act (the UCCJA/Act), 10 O.S. 1981 § 1601, et seq. After denying the writ of habeas corpus, the trial court set the motion to dismiss for a hearing on October 19, 1989 the same date as the hearing on the father's temporary custody order.

¶6 All parties appeared before the trial court on October 19, 1989. The trial court denied the mother's motion to dismiss because: 1) no action was pending in any other state; 2) Oklahoma was a convenient forum; 3) the father had not engaged in reprehensible conduct; and 4) an emergency existed because of the mother's mental health. A hearing on the merits of the father's motion to modify the divorce decree was set for December 1, 1989, and we issued a temporary stay on November 30, 1989. The Oklahoma Court made its determination under the older UCCJA, and prior to the stronger emphasis found in the UCCJEA:

2. Continuing jurisdiction is lost when the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent no longer reside in the original decree State. The exact language of subparagraph (a)(2) was the subject of considerable debate.

Ultimately the Conference settled on the phrase that "a court of this State or a court of another State determines that the child, the child's parents, and any person acting as a parent do not presently reside in this State" to determine when the exclusive, continuing jurisdiction of a State ended. The phrase is meant to be identical in meaning to the language of the PKPA which provides that full faith and credit is to be given to custody determinations made by a State in the exercise of its continuing jurisdiction when that "State remains the residence of ... ." The phrase is also the equivalent of the language "continues to reside" which occurs in UIFSA § 205(a)(1) to determine the exclusive, continuing jurisdiction of the State that made a support order. The phrase "remains the residence of" in the PKPA has been the subject of conflicting case law. It is the intention of this Act that paragraph (a)(2) of this section means that the named persons no

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