IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-01783

RHONDA YEAGER

v.

DAVID KITTRELL

Appellant

Appellee

Appealed from the Wayne County Chancery Court, Mississippi Trial Court Case No. 2003-298 The Honorable Franklin C. McKenzie, Jr., Presiding

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPELLEE

David Kittrell Pro Se 14180 Clark Dr. Streetman, Texas 75859 Telephone: 214-325-5112

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-01783

RHONDA YEAGER

Appellant

Appellee

v.

DAVID KITTRELL

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

(e) David has submitted to Rhonda several agreed orders to which Rhonda has never responded.

(f) All of the evidence prior to the Children's relocation and the causation of the Children's relocation was in the Wayne County Chancery Court (5 years ago). However, all of the current evidence is located in Texas including, but not limited to, the children, the children's schools, school records, teachers, principals, doctors, medical records, the Texas Department of Child Protective Services, the Navarro County Sheriff, Texas Attorney General and the Child Support Record, and countless others which have become involved in the Children's lives.

¹⁹As Rhonda stated in her Brief: "Respondent has the financial means to answer all accusations in Wayne County Chancery Court as well as unleash a barrage of litigation in Texas to the disadvantage of Appellant." (Appellant Brief, p.15)

(g) The Texas Court is better able to decide the issues expeditiously and the procedures necessary to present the evidence because all of the current witnesses are located within the jurisdiction of the Texas Court and the evidence is filed in its court records.

(h) The Wayne County Chancery Court, Mississippi, Chancellor conversed with the 13th District Court of Navarro County, Texas, Judge and agreed that Texas is a more convenient forum.

The above factors are an accurate view of the circumstances which are supported by the Court Record.

C. <u>The Trial Court applied the Mississippi Code Annotated §93-27-207 in</u> accordance with the UCCJEA in this case

Under the UCCJA, the Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that the factor of the court of original jurisdiction cannot be solely relied upon to determine if a court has continuing exclusive jurisdiction. The UCCJA allows a court competent to decide child custody matters to decline to exercise its jurisdiction if it finds that it is an inconvenient forum and that the court of another state is more appropriate. The UCCJEA differs from the UCCJA in that the court of original jurisdiction has the continuing exclusive jurisdiction until the court of continuing jurisdiction determines that is not the court of convenient forum and that another state is the more convenient forum. The UCCJEA goes even further and requires that the courts of the different states <u>must</u> communicate to determine which court is the more convenient forum.

In Brenda Castille Hobbs v. William Monroe Hobbs, 508 So. 2d 677; 1987 Miss. LEXIS 2597 (1987 decided) the father filed with the Mississippi trial court a motion to modify the divorce decree and a motion to find the mother in contempt of court for violating the father's visitation privileges. In the meantime, the mother instituted proceedings in Louisiana to modify the Mississippi custody decree. The mother then filed with the Mississippi trial court a motion to transfer jurisdiction to Louisiana. The Trial court denied the motion to transfer jurisdiction and modified the custody decree. The Supreme Court of Mississippi reversed and remanded the trial court's decision. The Supreme Court found that the factor of the court of original jurisdiction cannot be solely relied upon to determine if a court has continuing exclusive jurisdiction.

"The chancellor, no doubt relying solely upon the fact that the original custody decree had been rendered in his court, did not believe the UCCJA applied to this case. In this he was manifestly in error.

"The first question the chancellor should have addressed was whether Mississippi was the proper state to exercise jurisdiction... Mississippi apparently was not the child's home state when William filed his petition because she had lived with her mother in Louisiana for approximately two years. There is nothing in the record to suggest there was any other basis for the chancellor to assume jurisdiction under this section.

"Moreover, when a chancellor is apprised of a pending proceeding in another state, Miss. Code Ann. § 93-23-11 requires him to stay the custody proceedings and communicate with the court of the other state before assuming jurisdiction. (as amended by Miss. Code Ann. §93-27-207(3))

The Supreme Court ruled that whether Mississippi is the child's home state and that

there were pending proceedings in another state, and when the trial court is apprised of a

pending proceeding in another state, the trial court must stay the custody proceedings and

communicate with the court of the other state.

This is exactly the criteria that the Trial Court applied in the instant case.

In a more recent case, *Mercedes Garcia Lovell Ortega v. John M. Lovell*, 725 So. 2d 199; 1998 Miss. LEXIS 617 (December 17, 1998, Decided), the Court holds that a trial court must take into consideration factors other than location of original jurisdiction. In *Ortega*, while the daughter was visiting for summer vacation the father filed for change of custody in the original court even though the child had been living with her mother in California for many years. The court granted the father custody. However, the mother appealed, based on lack of jurisdiction. The Supreme Court of Mississippi agreed with the mother that Mississippi should not have ruled in this case because California was a more convenient forum. Moreover, the Court found that all of the current witnesses and evidence relating to the child's most recent well being were all located in California. Even though Mississippi was the court of original jurisdiction, the Supreme Court overturned the trial court's ruling because California was a more convenient forum.

"Recent case law from this Court makes it clear that just because a Mississippi court can exercise jurisdiction does not mean it always should. The chancellor in the case sub judice relied solely on the fact that the original divorce decree was entered in this state in assuming jurisdiction over the custody of Kristina. The chancellor is not obliged to assume jurisdiction over a particular custody matter if another state's court is a more appropriate forum. ... California is the "home state" of Kristina, and it would be in her best interest to have the case decided there due to her significant connection with that state and the availability of evidence concerning her present or future care, protection, training and personal relationships.

"A court may decline to exercise jurisdiction if it is not the most appropriate or convenient forum. If the court accepts jurisdiction as the more convenient forum, the court must determine if the action to be taken is foreclosed by an order or judgment of the other state court. Stowers v. Humphrey, 576 So. 2d 138, 140 (Miss.1991) (citing Hobbs v. Hobbs, 508 So. 2d 677, 680 (Miss.1987))."

This is exactly the criteria the Trial Court considered in the instant case.

In *Rexford V. Stowers v. Susan C. Humphrey*, 576 So. 2d 138 (1991 Miss. LEXIS 56) "Appellant father sought review of the decision of the Pike County Chancery Court (Mississippi), which granted appellee mother's motion to dismiss the father's child support and visitation petition for a lack of jurisdiction, and stayed the proceedings pursuant to the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act (UCCJA). The Chancery Court stayed the proceedings. On appeal, the court affirmed and held that, although the Mississippi court had jurisdiction, the proceedings were properly stayed because Alabama was a more appropriate and convenient forum. The daughters had a closer connection to Alabama after living there for two and one-half years and evidence concerning the effects of visitation with their father was more readily available there."

This is exactly the criteria the Trial Court considered in the instant case.

Rhonda relied solely on G.S. v. Ewing 786 P. 2d 65 (OK 1990), an Oklahoma case, to support her argument. Although the history in this case is similar to the instant case, the issue appealed is not like our case. The Oklahoma case was an emergency situation where the welfare of the children was involved.

The decision in the Oklahoma case was not made solely because Oklahoma was the original jurisdiction that issued the original decree. The decision in this case was based

on the facts that "1) no action was pending in any other state; 2) Oklahoma was a convenient forum (substantial evidence needed to determine the custody issue was located within the State of Oklahoma); 3) the father had not engaged in reprehensible conduct; and 4) an emergency existed because of the mother's mental health." *G.S. v. Ewing*, 786 P.2d 65 (OK 1990). The trial court had the discretion to hear a cause if Oklahoma was an inconvenient forum, but determined that it was not an inconvenient forum.

¶17 "A trial court may decline to exercise jurisdiction pursuant to 10 O.S. 1981 if it finds two factors: (1) that Oklahoma is an inconvenient forum, and (2) that another state is a more appropriate forum. ...The trial court has discretion to determine whether its exercise of jurisdiction is appropriate considering the best interest of the child/children involved." G.S. v. Ewing, 786 P.2d 72 (OK 1990)

In *Ewing*, the parents divorced in Oklahoma and the mother moved with the children to Missouri. An emergency arose while the children were visiting their father in Oklahoma. The mother entered a hospital for treatment for codependency. The father enrolled the children in school in Oklahoma and then filed an emergency motion for temporary custody. The current substantial evidence relating to custody was located in Oklahoma and no proceedings had been established in a court in Missouri, therefore the Oklahoma Court determined that it was the more convenient forum.

The facts of this case and the instant case differ as follows:

1. Texas <u>has</u> established jurisdiction and <u>has</u> entered orders in a child custody proceeding. In the Oklahoma case, no other state had initiated child custody proceedings.

2. The father in the Oklahoma case filed his motion in the state of original jurisdiction because that is where he and the children lived and because substantial

evidence needed to determine the custody issue was located within the State of Oklahoma.

In the instant case the current records and witnesses relating to the children's well being, and the children, are located, and have been for almost five years, in the State of Texas. Therefore the court of original jurisdiction in the instant case is no longer a convenient forum.

3. In the instant case there was no emergency situation.

4. The other factor considered in the Oklahoma case was that the father seeking jurisdiction had not engaged in reprehensible conduct.

D. Argument in Reply

1. In Rhonda's Brief (Appellant's Brief, p.4), she stated that the Trial Court refused to hear her Motion for Contempt (R.E. 10; C.R. 614-616), and only heard arguments on the Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction. Rhonda filed her Motion for Contempt on May 11, 2007, after the hearing on the Motion to Transfer Jurisdiction (March 7, 2007) and after the Motion for Jurisdiction in Texas had been filed (March 27, 2007. The Trial Court adhered to Mississippi Code Annotated which states:

"If the court determines that a child custody proceeding has been commenced in a court in another state having jurisdiction substantially in accordance with this chapter, the court of this state shall stay its proceeding and communicate with the court of the other state. If the court of the state having jurisdiction substantially in accordance with this chapter does not determine that the court of this state is a more appropriate forum, the court of this state shall dismiss the proceeding." Miss. Code Ann.§93-27-207(2)

2. In Rhonda's Motion to Reconsider, she attached Affidavits of the Children stating their desire to live with their mother. The Children were removed from Rhonda's

physical custody by the State of Mississippi. Therefore, the Children's welfare, and not the age and desires of the Children, would be considered in a child custody proceeding. The Texas Court is best able to determine the current welfare and the best interest of the Children.

Further, Trevor was only eleven years old at the time he signed the Affidavit. (R.E. 13; C.R. 629). Trevor is a "special education" child. The Affidavit that he signed was beyond his "age appropriate" understanding, and he should never have been placed in that situation. This is the same child that the Trial Court stated: "The little lad was in pretty bad shape. I don't think he would have made it if this change had not occurred. I don't think this little boy would have succeeded in the educational system. He would not have made it. This is a wonderful opportunity for him in the opinion of the Court, to turn what was almost a certain failure into a success. (R.E. 6; R.R. P. 123, L 17-22)

Further, the Affidavit stated that Trevor had lived in Mississippi since the end of May and attended Bowie Elementary. What the Affidavit failed to mention was that Trevor was in Mississippi for court ordered summer visitation with his mother, and that Bowie Elementary is located in Navarro County, Texas.

E. <u>Supplemental Record</u>

At the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider, Judge McKenzie stated "There's no authority that is cited from the Supreme Court of Mississippi or any other state that makes a finding of the unconstitutionality of the situation. So I am going to overrule your motion." (R.E. 17; R.R. P.131, L2-7). Rhonda's attorney then asked "for a 15 day period

to brief the Court, or do you want to just take it straight up?" The Trial Court said "Just go ahead and enter an order." (R.E. 17; R.R., P. 131, L. 2-11) The attorney for Rhonda said that he would have an order within 10 days. (R.E. 17; R.R. 131, L. 16-17) Subsequently, the attorney for Rhonda presented to the Trial Court, without permission, without narrative or discussion, 122 pages of "illustrative cases" in their entirety (C.R. Supp. Vol. 1-122) even though the Trial Court had clearly denied the request to further brief the Court. These cases were not a part of the Record, and Appellant's attorney supplemented the record (by order entered on February 25, <u>2009</u>) to include these cases. Therefore, David addresses the "illustrative cases" as follows:

None of the case authority presented had anything to do with "Constitutional Issues." Rhonda cited one of the submitted eight cases in her Brief (G.S. v. Ewing, 786 P. 2d 65 (OK 1990)), an Oklahoma case, which was discussed heretofore.

The other seven citations that Rhonda's attorney attempted to present to the Trial Court are discussed below:

Only four of the cases cited were Mississippi cases, none of which had any relevance to the instant case. Three were abduction cases and the other case was regarding an original jurisdiction determination for a guardianship where the ward and the applicants lived in different states.

1. Cliburn vs Bergeron, S.W.3d, 2002 WL 31890868 (Tenn.Ct. App.) - In Cliburn, a Tennessee case, the Trial court dismissed for lack of jurisdiction because another state had continuing exclusive jurisdiction. In this case, Lousiana had to determine that it no longer has exclusive continuing jurisdiction or that the Tennessee court would be a more convenient forum. The Louisiana court had made neither finding. In other words the original state has a right of first refusal. Therefore, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal. (C.R. Supp. Vol. P. 5-20)

In the instant case the court of original jurisdiction determined that a court of another state would be a more convenient forum.

2. Owens vs. Huffman, 481 So. 2d 231 (Miss. 1985) - In Owens, the Grandmother had abducted the child and had taken her to Arizona. Therefore, the grandmother violated the UCCJA, PKPA, and UCCJEA.

Owens is not relevant to the instant case. The children in this case were lawfully taken to Texas. (CR Supp. Vol. P. 22-40)

3. *Curtis vs. Curtis*, 574 So. 2d 24 (Miss. 1990) - In *Curtis*, the Father had abducted the child and had taken her to Mississippi. Therefore, the father violated the UCCJA, PKPA, and UCCJEA.

Curtis is not relevant to the instant case. Again Appellee did not kidnap the Children. The Children were lawfully taken to Texas. (CR Supp. Vol. P. 42-50)

4. *Scott vs. Somers,* 97 Conn. App. 46, 903 A.2d 663 (Conn. 2006) - In *Scott*, a Connecticut case, there was nothing in the record to indicate that Florida relinquished its jurisdiction. The judgement was reversed and the case was remanded with the direction to dismiss this matter for lack of jurisdiction. (CR Supp. Vol. P. 51-58)

In the instant case, Mississippi did relinquish jurisdiction prior to Texas establishing jurisdiction.

5. The Matter of the Guardianship of Z.J., 804 So. 2d. 1009 (Miss. 2002) - In Z.J., the potential guardians lived in a different state than the home state of the child. This was an initial determination, not a continuing jurisdiction case. (CR Supp. Vol. P. 59-68)

There are no similarities to the instant case.

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